# BEAUFORT COUNTY DESIGN REVIEW BOARD (DRB) MINUTES

December 2, 2021, Grace Coastal Church, 15 Williams Drive, Okatie, SC

Members Present: James Atkins, J. Michael Brock, Sallie Brach, Roger Jadown and Donald L. Starkey

Members Absent: Peter Brower and Brad Hill

Staff Present: Nancy Moss, Beaufort County Community Development Department

#### **Guests:**

Seaglass Windowscapes: Nikki Petitt, Savannah Blinds (via telephone conference); Mark Tate, Tate Design Group (via telephone conference); Kevin Grenier, KRA Architecture; and, Rick Gammon, Landsource.

KIA of Hilton Head: Jason Broene, Court Atkins Architects

No members of the public were in attendance.

- 1. CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Atkins called the meeting to order at 2:30 p.m.
- **2. FOIA:** Chairman Atkins said that "public notification of this meeting has been published, posted, and distributed in compliance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act".
- **3. MINUTES:** Chairman Atkins asked if there were comments on the October 7, 2021, minutes. Mrs. Brach motioned to approve the meeting minutes and Mr. Jadown seconded to approve. Motion carried unanimously.
- 4. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS: There was no public comment.

#### 5. NEW BUSINESS:

## A. Okatie Center - Seaglass Windowscapes – Bluffton – Final:

Ms. Moss gave the project background. Mr. Atkins asked for public comment, but no comments were made. Kevin Grenier, the project Architect, and Rick Gammon, the Landscape Designer for the project, made the presentation for the project. Mr. Grenier stated that the rear stairway would be constructed of metal and the color would match the building. He said that the reason that foundation plantings were not proposed behind the building and around the dumpster enclosure was that there are plans to build an addition sometime in the future. Mr. Grenier said that they would provide a diagram to demonstrate that the parapets are tall enough to screen the roof equipment from view. He said that the shortest parapet is 4' tall.

Mr. Starkey said that the rear stairway should not look like a fire escape so a wall or walls should be added. Mr. Grenier said that was a good idea. Mr. Starkey also stated that the type of light fixture in the parking lot is not identified on the plan and that the back of the light fixture should face the Sun City residential homes and that the front of the light fixture should be mounted toward this project at a 90 degree angle so there was no light trespass. Mr. Starkey concluded by questioning whether the canvas awnings would look in good condition over time and suggested that they consider incorporating metal awnings to last longer.

Mr. Brock also questioned the durability of the canvas awnings and wondered what color they would be. He recommended that they explore other options such as metal awnings. Mr. Grenier stated that they could provide specifications of the canvas material to verify the durability of the canvas fabric. Nikki Pettit stated that her business fabricates canvas awnings, and she would ensure that the canvas fabric was changed out before becoming worn-out looking because it would be bad for her business. She said that the awnings have a 10-year warranty on the fabric, wanted to use black canvas awnings on this building and that metal awnings were not as Southern as fabric awnings were. Ms. Petitt continued to state that the canvas awnings would be changed out every 10 years and that metal awnings would also require painting after 10 years. Mr. Brock said that he made the comment about introducing metal awnings for an opportunity to bring in Lowcountry design elements on the building. Mr. Brock said that he agreed with staff comments about the landscaping in the front buffer and that the foundation plantings behind the building and around the dumpster enclosure should be installed because the future building addition may not materialize. Mr. Gammon stated that the landscape plan would be revised to soften the edge of the rear portion of the building and dumpster enclosure. Mr. Brock stated that the rear buffer should be supplemented with plantings because there were few existing trees at the rear portion of the property.

Mr. Jadown stated that the site plan and lighting plan did not match in terms of the configuration of the rear looped drive and wondered which plan was correct. Mr. Tate stated that the civil site plan was correct and Mr. Grenier agreed with Mr. Tate. Mr. Jadown asked where the ditch was being directed. Mr. Tate stated that the ditch drainage was being routed to an existing storm inlet within the drainage easement on-site. Mr. Jadown stated that the back stairway had nothing in place to prevent vandals from entering and accessing the roof. Mr. Grenier said that a lock gate could be added. Mr. Jadown wanted a better idea of how the roof drainage would work. Mr. Grenier referred to the roof plan and explained that the front 2-story roof was sloped to the rear one-story roof which was sloped to the right-side of the building where the rainwater would be collected by four scuppers with downspouts. Mr. Jadown said that he had concerns that there may be moisture issues with the stucco due to the volume of the roof water being directed to a few scuppers.

Mr. Atkins stated that he understood the need for a parapet in the back of the building since it would be an outdoor showroom for the product displays, but that because this was a relatively small building, the building design would benefit if a gable roof were added to the front two-story portion of the structure. He said that he agreed with the staff comments about the landscaping and dumpster enclosure. Mr. Atkins added that because an outdoor display area would be on the rooftop, the DRB would need to know the height of the goods, whether the goods would be in-place permanently, what type of goods would be displayed and how often the goods will be taken down. He stated that a material/color board would need to be submitted along with elevations with color or 3D renderings. Ms. Petitt asked the Chairman what his thoughts were about black awnings against a white building facade. Mr. Atkins said that until the colored renderings are presented, it would be difficult to provide a definite answer. He continued to say that the color scheme should have traditional Lowcountry accents and that bright corporate colors would not work. Mr. Grenier asked if the blue colors on the signage on the elevations would be approved. Mr. Atkins said that signage panel approval is a separate process, but typically, darker, richer blue colors would probably work.

Mrs. Brach stated that Beaufort County is subject to hurricane activity and asked if the canvas awnings were hurricane-proof. Ms. Petitt stated that nothing is hurricane-proof but that the canvas material is good for 70 mile per hour winds and can be removed before a hurricane arrives because they are laced on and can be put back on once the storm has passed. Mrs. Brach asked if the

landscape plan was revised after the staff comments were made. Mr. Gammon said it had not. Mrs. Brach asked what the purpose was of the rear stairway. Mr. Grenier stated that the stairway was needed to access the rooftop equipment. Mrs. Pettit said that two access points are required because they want to have rooftop events with an exterior showroom.

Mr. Atkins stated that metal roof awnings, brackets and porches have been used in the past to achieve a Lowcountry look on buildings. He said that this was not a large building and that the parapet roof made sense in the rear, but not in the front and that the drawings are not showing cornice detailing or stucco massing. Mr. Atkins stated that painted CMU block is not a traditional Lowcountry detail and that the previous suggestions to incorporate metal awnings were given to help integrate Lowcountry detailing into the building design. Mr. Atkins said that brick can be used on the facade, but stone cannot.

Mr. Starkey made a motion to table this final project and that the project should be re-submitted for final once the drawings are revised and the items discussed at the meeting were addressed.

Mrs. Brach seconded the motion.

Motion carried unanimously.

## 6. OLD BUSINESS:

# A. KIA of Hilton Head Architecture Revision – Bluffton – Final (2):

Mr. Atkins asked Mr. Starkey to officiate during this project review. Mr. Atkins and Mr. Brock recused themselves from the meeting. Ms. Moss gave the project background. Mr. Starkey asked for public comment, but no comments were made. Jason Broene, the project Architect, made the presentation for the project. He stated that the KIA car dealership changed the prototype design for 2022 and the Owner wanted his building to align with the updated prototype. Mr. Broene stated that the three major changes on the building were:

- 1. The aluminum storefront frames on the doors and windows changed from charcoal-colored to clear anodized around the building.
- 2. The ground-faced CMU gray colored wainscot changed to a charcoal-colored utility size brick around the building; and,
- 3. The revised design reconfigured the stucco and storefront to reduce the EIFS and increase the storefront to give the building design a cleaner and straight-lined appearance.

Mr. Broene stated that the building footprint would not change and that the site plan would remain the same.

Mr. Jadown asked whether the storefront glass would be tinted. Mr. Broene stated that the glass would be slightly tinted. Mr. Jadown asked how many trees on the site would be left once the building and parking lot were constructed. Mr. Broene said that there was a 50' buffer on Highways 278 & 170 and that most of the existing trees would remain in the buffers.

Mrs. Brach had no comments.

Mr. Jadown said that the structure was a nice glass box attached to a building that would probably be lit all night long. Staff indicated that the Lighting Standards in the Code states that all interior lighting shall be so designed to prevent the light source or high levels of light from being visible from a public right-of-way.

Mr. Starkey stated that he preferred this building design with the reduced area of black stucco and increased area of storefront.

Mrs. Brach made a motion to approve the revised architecture as submitted.

Mr. Jadown seconded the motion.

Motion carried unanimously.

# 7. 2022 Design Review Board Meeting Schedule:

The Board reviewed the proposed 2022 meeting schedule. The meetings would be held on the first Thursday of each month in the large meeting room at Grace Coastal Church.

Mrs. Brach made a motion to approve the 2022 DRB meeting schedule.

Mr. Starkey seconded the motion.

Motion carried unanimously.

## 8. Nomination and Election of Chairman and Vice Chairman:

Mrs. Brach made a motion that the Board maintain the current Chairman and Vice Chairman.

Mr. Starkey seconded the motion.

The Board took time for a discussion to receive consent from Mr. Atkins and Mr. Brock who both agreed to continue as Chairman and Vice Chairman, respectively.

Motion carried unanimously.

#### 9. OTHER BUSINESS:

**A.** Boards and Commissions Year End Forms:

Mr. Atkins stated that the Letter of Intent forms were due and those Board members who have not completed it must do so and provide it to staff. He also stated that if Board members have a scheduling conflict in the future to reach out to staff to reschedule the meeting so there is 100% attendance on the Board because all of the Board members input is needed.

- **B.** Mr. Atkins stated that the next scheduled meeting 2:30 p.m. on Thursday, January 6, 2022 at Grace Coastal Church, 15 Williams Drive, Okatie, SC 29909
- 10. **ADJOURNMENT:** Mr. Brock made a motion to close the meeting and Mr. Atkins seconded the motion. The meeting adjourned at 3:30 p.m.